IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| FLO-SUN, INCORPORATED, OKEELANTA CORPORATION, and SUGAR CANE GROWERS COOPERATIVE OF FLORIDA, INC., et al., |))) | |
|---|----------------------|---|
| Defendants/Petitioners, |) Case No. 95,04 | 4 |
| vs. |) | |
| FORMER GOVERNOR CLAUDE R. KIRK, individually and in the name of the State of Florida, et al., |))) | |
| Plaintiffs/Respondents. |)) | |
| | | |
| On Petition to Revi The District Court of Ap | | + |
| The District Court of Ap | hear, tourcu practic | - |

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER SUGAR CANE GROWERS COOPERATIVE OF FLORIDA, INC. INCLUDING APPENDIX

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the decision below, the Fourth DCA articulated and enforced a notice pleading standard to test the sufficiency of a complaint which seeks to divert large-scale environmental controversies from the primary jurisdiction of executive agencies to public nuisance adjudication in the circuit courts. Emphasizing the posture of the case on a motion to dismiss, the court found a general allegation that agencies have not been enforcing the law sufficient, without more, to supplant the requirements of primary jurisdiction:

Plaintiffs are alleging that agency errors have been so egregious or devastating that administrative remedies would be insufficient; that the governmental agencies entrusted with preventing the sort of pollutants and harm allegedly caused by Defendants are not doing their job; and that Defendants are operating in a manner contrary to and regulations. Taking these existing statutes allegations as true, as a court must do on a motion to dismiss, the trial court erred in determining that the primary jurisdiction applies to bar doctrine of Plaintiffs' public nuisance suit at this juncture.

* * *

If Defendants can later disprove Plaintiffs' allegations through record evidence, then the doctrine of primary jurisdiction might serve as a basis for disposing of this case. [A-1, p.2-3.]

The Fourth DCA was, in its view, forced to so hold by the nature of the complaint, which alleged that statutes and rules administered by executive agencies regulate the complained-of activities and that the agencies have failed to enforce these laws. [Id.] However, the court pointed to no allegation that: (1) Plaintiffs have ever raised the alleged violations with any regulatory agency; (2) available administrative remedies are legally inadequate to remedy such violations; or (3) any agency has ever failed to provide access to administrative remedies.¹ [A-1, p.
2.]

The rationale stated in the complaint for not seeking available administrative remedies was that "the government 'aided and abetted' in the nuisance by failing to enforce existing laws and regulations and by providing direct and indirect economic subsidies to the defendants" and "the judicial branch alone has the will, the authority, the power and the independence to abate this ongoing nuisance." [A-1, p. 2.]

Applying a notice pleading standard to these general allegations, the Fourth DCA reversed the Circuit Court's dismissal², and held that:

• General allegations of governmental complicity and failure to enforce the law are sufficient to preclude application of primary jurisdiction; [A-1, p.2.]

• These allegations shift the burden to the Defendants to prove that the agencies have been adequately performing their duties. Absent that showing, there is no requirement of prior resort to administrative remedies. [Id.]

In contrast the First and Third DCAs have held:

Circuit court jurisdiction is limited by "judicial

¹ Damages alleged in the complaint include pollution of public lands and injury to wildlife [A-1, p.2.] The relief sought by Plaintiffs is "to shut down Defendants' agricultural business." [Id.]

² The Circuit Court's dismissal did not "preclude Plaintiffs from bringing any individual, private right of action they may have for personal injury or property damage allegedly resulting from the activities of the Defendants." [A-2, p. 2.]

restrictions . . . which require prior resort to and exhaustion of administrative remedies when they are available and adequate." <u>State ex. rel. Department of Gen. Services v. Willis</u>, 344 So.2d 580, 589 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); <u>accord</u>, <u>Bal Harbour Village v. City</u> <u>of Miami</u>, 678 So.2d 356, 364 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996). Trial court intervention into areas of executive authority is justified by improper agency conduct only if the complaint demonstrates that the APA cannot provide a remedy. <u>Willis</u>, 344 So.2d at 590-91.

• Allegations regarding the timeliness, efficacy and propriety of agency action are, without more, insufficient to justify trial court intervention into matters regulated by agencies. <u>Communities Financial Corp. v. Department of Envtl. Reg.</u>, 416 So.2d 813, 816-17 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Where administrative remedies have not been pursued, it cannot be concluded that those remedies are inadequate. <u>Id.</u>; <u>Florida Soc. of Newspaper Editors v.</u> <u>Florida Pub. Serv. Comm'n</u>, 543 So.2d 1262, 1266 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), <u>rev. denied</u>, 551 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1989); <u>Department of Envtl.</u> <u>Prot. v. PZ Constr.</u>, 633 So.2d 76, 78-79 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

Based on conflict with these decisions, and the decisions of this Court which have expressly adopted <u>Willis--Key Haven Assoc.</u> <u>Enter. v. Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund</u>, 427 So.2d 153, 156-57 (Fla. 1982) and <u>Gulf Pines Memorial Park, Inc. v.</u> <u>Oaklawn Memorial Park, Inc.</u>, 361 So.2d 695, 698-99 (Fla. 1978)-the Petitioner seeks review in this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fourth DCA held that general allegations of agency

complicity and failure to enforce the law are sufficient, without more, to supplant primary jurisdiction requirements, unless and until a defendant disproves those allegations through record evidence. This holding conflicts with Supreme Court and First and Third DCA decisions which require prior resort to available APA remedies.³ To bypass the agencies, those decisions require that the complaint allege an attempt to invoke APA remedies and demonstrate that APA remedies are unavailable or inadequate. The allegations the Fourth DCA relied upon fall far short of this standard and its decision conflicts with these precedents.

The Fourth DCA decision requires trial courts, based on broad but general allegations of agency complicity and inaction, to adjudicate the efficacy and propriety of agency behavior before requiring parties to use to APA remedies. Because of the farreaching implications to the judicial and executive branches, this Court should exercise its jurisdiction and review this case on the merits.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DCA EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND THE FIRST AND THIRD DCAS REQUIRING PRIOR RESORT TO ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES.

The fundamental question in this appeal is whether a general allegation that executive agencies have not been enforcing the law due to complicity with regulated parties is sufficient, without

³ The Fourth DCA decision also conflicts with <u>State v. SCM</u> <u>Glidco Organics Corp.</u>, 592 So.2d 710 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). Petitioner adopts the arguments in the Flo-Sun Brief on this point.

more, to preclude application of primary jurisdiction. The Fourth DCA answered this question in the affirmative, creating conflict with two decades of established judicial policy--based on constitutional separation of powers principles--of not prematurely interfering with executive decisionmaking. This policy is embodied in the doctrines of primary jurisdiction and exhaustion, which, as articulated by this Court and the First and Third DCAs, require parties to utilize available administrative remedies <u>before</u> seeking relief in the courts.⁴ As emphasized in <u>Willis</u>, this policy of judicial restraint recognizes the ample protections afforded by the APA, which include independent administrative law judges and judicial review in the district courts. <u>Willis</u>, 344 So.2d at 590.

As this Court has noted, "if administrative agencies are to function and endure as viable institutions, courts must refrain from promiscuous intervention in agency affairs except for the most urgent reasons." <u>Gulf Pines</u>, 361 So.2d at 698; <u>see also</u>, <u>Key</u> <u>Haven</u>, 427 So.2d at 157. Accordingly, courts recognize exceptions to primary jurisdiction only where "agency errors may be so egregious or devastating that the promised administrative remedy is too little or too late." <u>Willis</u>, 344 So.2d at 590. The Fourth DCA, using language from <u>Willis</u>, held that the Plaintiffs had alleged

⁴ <u>Willis</u>, 344 So.2d at 590. The doctrines of primary jurisdiction and exhaustion, as articulated in <u>Willis</u>, were adopted by this Court in <u>Key Haven</u>, 427 So.2d 157-58 and <u>Gulf Pines</u>, 361 So.2d at 698-99, and by the Third DCA in <u>Bal Harbour</u>, 678 So.2d at 364. The <u>Bal Harbour</u> court further held, contrary to the decision below, that public nuisance law does not abrogate the requirement of prior resort to APA remedies. <u>Id.</u> Petitioner adopts the arguments in the Flo-Sun Brief regarding conflict with <u>Bal Harbour</u>.

"egregious and devastating" agency errors. [A-1, p. 2-3, n. 1.] However, the Fourth DCA misapplied <u>Willis</u> by not also requiring the complaint to demonstrate that there is no adequate APA remedy.⁵

Under First and Third DCA precedents, a complaint that seeks to bypass primary jurisdiction must demonstrate either that the agency cannot or will not consider the complainants' claims or that the agency has acted improperly and the APA has no adequate remedy. Willis, 344 So.2d at 591; Communities Financial, 416 So.2d at 816-17; PZ Constr., 633 So.2d at 78-79. The key to these holdings is that primary jurisdiction applies unless it is demonstrated that there is no adequate APA remedy. For example, in Communities Financial, 416 So.2d at 816-17, the First DCA held that allegations of agency errors and improper agency conduct are insufficient to bypass primary jurisdiction because such allegations do not demonstrate that APA remedies are inadequate. The First DCA expressly rejected the argument that defects in "the timeliness and efficacy of agency action and the propriety of [the agency] applying certain statutory and regulatory standards" necessitated trial court intervention into areas of environmental agency jurisdiction. Id. It further held that "such an allegation, without more, undermines the very purposes of the APA, for it presupposes that a circuit court is a more appropriate forum for disputes which are particularly within the resolution of administrative agency's expertise." Id.

⁵ <u>Willis</u>, 344 So.2d at 590. The Fourth DCA's misapplication of <u>Willis</u> is sufficient to confer jurisdiction in this Court. <u>See</u>, <u>Wale v. Barnes</u>, 278 So.2d 601, 604 (Fla. 1973).

First and Third DCA precedents also require an actual attempt to invoke administrative remedies:

[T]he absence of any claim that [the agency] refused to afford [the plaintiffs] an administrative hearing or otherwise refused to recognize that their grievances were administratively cognizable undermines the very assertion that the APA has no adequate remedy. . . . Since [administrative] avenues of relief were not pursued we cannot conclude that the remedies of the administrative process are inadequate.

<u>Communities Financial</u>, 416 So.2d at 816. This fundamental principle --that to bypass agency jurisdiction a complaint must, at a minimum, allege an attempt to invoke APA remedies--was reiterated by the First DCA in <u>Florida Soc. Of Newspaper Editors</u>, 543 So.2d at 1266 n. 10, and by the Third DCA in <u>PZ Constr.</u>, 633 So.2d at 78-79.

The decision below acknowledges agency jurisdiction and creates an exception to primary jurisdiction based on allegations of agency complicity and inaction. [A-1, p. 2-3.] However, the court did not require the Plaintiffs to allege that they ever petitioned any agency to pursue enforcement action or otherwise remedy its alleged failures. [Id.] Nor did the court require the complaint to demonstrate that the APA cannot provide adequate relief. [Id.] At most, the allegations relied upon by the Fourth DCA demonstrate that the agencies have not been as active as Plaintiffs would have wished. Such allegations, without more, are insufficient under First and Third DCA precedents. <u>See</u>, <u>Communities Financial</u>, 416 So.2d at 816-17; <u>PZ Constr.</u>, 633 So.2d at 79; <u>Willis</u>, 344 So.2d at 590-91. The Fourth DCA decision further conflicts with these precedents by shifting the burden to the Defendants to "disprove Plaintiffs' allegations through record

evidence." [A-1, p. 3.] This transforms into an affirmative defense what was in <u>Willis</u> a condition precedent to bringing suit.⁶

Moreover, the Willis court held that a court's decision whether to intervene in areas of executive authority should take into account the "extent of injury from pursuit of administrative the degree of apparent clarity or doubt about remedies, jurisdiction, and involvement of specialized administrative administrative understanding in the question." <u>Willis</u>, 344 So.2d at 590 n.10. Even a cursory examination of these factors shows a conflict with Willis. The decision below acknowledges agency jurisdiction, but there is no allegation that any unique injury would result from APA remedies. And, resolution of the broad environmental issues implicated in this case requires application of the specialized knowledge of regulatory agencies. See, Bal Harbour, 678 So.2d at 364.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS JURISDICTION TO PRESERVE LONG-STANDING JUDICIAL POLICIES BASED ON THE CONSTITUTIONAL SEPARATION OF POWERS.

By overturning the trial court's dismissal, the Fourth DCA required that court to engage in exactly the sort of "promiscuous intervention" that this Court warned of in <u>Gulf Pines</u>. Trial courts of the Fourth District will now be forced by very general allegations to adjudicate the adequacy and propriety of executive

⁶ Petitioner adopts the arguments of the Flo-Sun Brief on this point. This holding also conflicts with <u>Hillsborough County</u> <u>Aviation Auth. v. Taller & Cooper</u>, 245 So.2d 100, 102 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971), which articulates a presumption that public officials properly perform their duties in accordance with the law which must be overcome by those challenging such performance.

agency action before deciding whether parties must use APA remedies. The courts will effectively be forced to conduct trials of the executive branch of government <u>in absentia</u>. This will entail calling current and former agency personnel and elected officials before the court to assess the adequacy of and motivations for their actions. In the meantime the alleged "public nuisances" that might have been addressed expeditiously under the APA will go unattended. Ultimately, regardless of final outcome, each case will require the trial court to audit and superintend for months and perhaps years the realm of environmental regulation for entire industries over large geographic areas.

decisions respect This result conflicts with that constitutionally based principles of judicial restraint and recognize the "impressive arsenal of varied and abundant remedies" afforded by the APA. Willis, 344 So.2d at 590-91. The Fourth DCA decision presumes the APA protections, which include independent fact-finders and judicial review in the district courts, id., inadequate to remedy alleged failures by agencies to "[do] their job." [A-1, p. 2.] If the APA is to be held so inadequate and longstanding policies of judicial restraint therefore abandoned, the decision should be based on this Court's analysis of the constitutional separation of powers, judicial policy considerations and the protections of the APA, not on the Fourth DCA's mechanical application of notice pleading requirements.

CONCLUSION

The Fourth DCA decision expressly and directly conflicts with

Communities Financial and PZ Constr. which require a claim of inadequate administrative remedies to be supported by a good faith attempt to use those remedies. Communities Financial, 416 So.2d at 816; PZ Constr., 633 So.2d at 78-79. It further conflicts with Willis, Key Haven and Gulf Pines, which require the complaint to demonstrate that APA remedies (including judicial review in the district courts) cannot provide adequate relief. Willis, 344 So.2d at 590-91. Additionally, the Fourth DCA created an "agency impropriety and inaction" exception to primary jurisdiction that was expressly rejected in <u>Communities Financial</u>, 416 So.2d at 816-17. Because of the importance of the constitutional separation of powers and administrative law principles implicated here, this Court should exercise its jurisdiction to consider the merits of Petitioner's arguments that the dismissal of the public nuisance complaint was proper and indeed required.