# ORIGINAL

FILED SID J. WHITE

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

MAY 10 19991 8¥.. chiet Depu

# FLO-SUN, INCORPORATED, OKEELANTA CORPORATION,

Petitioners,

vs.

FORMER GOVERNOR CLAUDE R. KIRK, individually and in the name of the State of Florida, et al.,

Respondents.

CASE NO. 95,044

## JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS IN RESPONSE TO JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS FLO-SUN AND OKEELANTA

Jack Scarola, Esq. of SEARCY DENNEY SCAROLA BARNHART & SHIPLEY, P.A. P.O. Drawer 3626 West Palm Beach, FL 33402 and CARUSO, BURLINGTON, BOHN & COMPIANI, P.A. 1615 Forum Place, Ste. 3A West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Tel: (561) 686-8010 Attorneys for Respondents

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The cases cited by Petitioners for conflict entitling them to this Court's discretionary review do not conflict with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal at issue. This case was brought under the nuisance statute, and the very statute which Petitioners claim required the exhaustion of administrative remedies, <u>explicitly</u> exempts statutory or common law actions to suppress nuisances.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE CASES WHICH PETITIONERS CITE FOR CONFLICT

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal which expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another district court of appeal or of this Court on the same point of law. Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). The principal situations establishing jurisdiction by conflict are the announcement of a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced, or the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts. NEILSON v. CITY OF SARASOTA, 117 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1960). See also COMBS v. STATE, 436 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1983). Neither jurisdictional ground has been established here.

Petitioners seek review alleging conflict with three cases, including STATE v. SCM GLIDCO ORGANICS CORP., 592 So.2d 710 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). First, there can be no direct and express conflict between the Fourth District's opinion in this case and SCM, because the SCM opinion arose out of and applies in the context of criminal law. SCM was an appeal by the State of Florida from orders dismissing two criminal cases. Two corporate defendants had been charged with violations of the nuisance statute, and the First District held that the dismissal of

the charges for violations of §823.01, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1987), the criminal nuisance statute, was correct because that section "has been superseded by Chapter 403, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> insofar as any application of that section to air pollution is concerned." <u>Id.</u> at 712. When properly understood, it is apparent that the SCM opinion was an attempt to reconcile a general and a specific criminal statute for purposes of due process notice requirements in the context of criminal law. It has no application to a case such as this, and factually and legally cannot be predicated as the basis of jurisdictional conflict with the decision in this case.

Moreover, even though the Fourth District stated its disagreement with the SCM decision, that disagreement did not create decisional conflict. The linchpin of the Fourth District's decision was the "savings clause" in the Florida Air and Water Pollution Control Act, Chapter 403, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1995). That clause appears in §403.191, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1995), the pertinent part of which, quoted by the Fourth District in its opinion, 24 Fla.L.Weekly at D343, reads as follows:

#### 403.191 Construction in relation to other law.--

(1) It is the purpose of this act to provide additional and cumulative remedies to prevent, abate, and control the pollution of the air and waters of the state. <u>Nothing</u> contained herein shall be construed to abridge or <u>alter rights of action</u> or remedies in equity under the common law or statutory law, criminal or civil, nor shall any provisions of this act, or any act done by virtue thereof, be construed as estopping the state or any municipality, or person affected by air or water pollution, in the exercise of their rights <u>in equity or under the</u> <u>common law or statutory law to suppress nuisances</u> or to abate pollution.

Critically, the panel majority in SCM did not discuss the savings clause in §403.191(1) at all. 592 So.2d at 710-13. Judge Ervin in dissent did not discuss it either. Id. at 713-717. Apparently, the application of the savings clause was not even considered in the SCM case, and what is dispositive for this proceeding is that the primary legal basis on which the Fourth District disagreed with SCM was neither discussed nor considered in the SCM decision. Therefore, there can be no decisional conflict giving rise to this Court's jurisdiction to review.

The legislature could not have conveyed with any greater clarity that Chapter 403 is intended to <u>add</u> to the common law and statutory remedies already available to curb polluting activities, such as an action "to suppress nuisances or to abate pollution" as Respondents brought here. The plain language of §403.191(1) rules out the theory that administrative relief is exclusive, or that it need be sought prior to prosecution of a judicial action, and unequivocally so regarding actions to suppress nuisances. Rather than foreclosing remedies and conferring exclusive or primary jurisdiction on particular administrative agencies, the legislature

"created a new cause of action, giving the citizens of Florida new substantive rights not previously possessed" and to enable those citizens to institute suit for the protection of their environment without a showing of "special injury" as previously required.

FRIENDS OF THE EVERGLADES, INC. v. BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF MONROE COUNTY, 456 So.2d 904, 913 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (citation omitted).

Petitioners also cite for conflict STATE EX REL. DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES v. WILLIS, 344 So.2d 580 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), and that case's teachings regarding the doctrine of primary jurisdiction. As the Court in Willis explained, id. at 859, primary jurisdiction is a judicially-created doctrine whereby, in appropriate circumstances, courts which are otherwise fully possessed of jurisdiction in a case will nonetheless postpone judicial consideration of it, and defer to action by an administrative body in order to vindicate the regulatory scheme provided by the legislature. If that is so, then the logic of the doctrine and of the WILLIS opinion absolutely does not apply here, where the legislature could not have been more explicit in creating exceptions to this regulatory scheme. In addition to the savings clause in §403.191, Chapter 376, Fla. Stat. (1995), the Pollution Discharge Prevention and Control Act, also expressly preserves the rights of individuals to bring original actions to seek judicial remedies explicitly in its provisions. See §§376.205, 376.313(1-3), Fla. Stat. (1995) ("the remedies in this action shall be deemed to be cumulative and not exclusive"). Thus, WILLIS

cannot conflict with the Fourth District's decision, which turned on a savings clause. Critically to the jurisdictional issue, WILLIS did <u>not</u> involve the same statutes which are at issue in this case.

Consequently, contrary to Petitioners' argument, the Fourth District's opinion does not undermine the administrative scheme established by the legislature, any more than have the savings clauses authored by the legislature long before the Fourth District authored its opinion. Moreover, because WILLIS involved different statutes, the Fourth District's decision here did not alter the effect of WILLIS' teachings within the statutory context of that case. Because WILLIS did not involve an action for nuisance, it discussed none of the statutory exceptions which were before the Fourth District.

Petitioners' argument that the Fourth District's opinion created a new rule to the effect that the Defendants must disprove the allegations of the complaint through a record evidence in order to establish that the primary jurisdiction doctrine should apply here is not correct. In the section of the opinion at issue, 24 Fla.L.Weekly at D343, the Fourth District properly followed the rule that the allegations of the complaint must be taken as true on a motion to dismiss, and then stated that if those allegations were not proven through record evidence, then primary jurisdiction might serve as a basis for disposing of the case. The use of the words "[i]f Defendants can later disprove Plaintiffs' allegations through record evidence" simply referenced whether Respondents as Plaintiffs could prevail on their factual allegations. Obviously, that phrase was not intended to effect the kind of sea change in the law which Petitioners contend, since Respondents have never disputed that as Plaintiffs it is their burden to plead and prove their case.

Finally, Petitioners also seek to predicate jurisdiction based on alleged conflict with the Third District's decision in BAL HARBOUR VILLAGE v. CITY OF NORTH MIAMI BEACH, 678 So.2d 356 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), where the court affirmed the dismissal, on grounds of primary jurisdiction and exhaustion of administrative remedies, of an environmental nuisance claim founded on allegations of water and air pollution. The issues in BAL HARBOUR centered around the Village's lawsuit seeking to prevent the City of North Miami from building an open-air amphitheater near the shores of Biscayne Bay. Id. at 358. North Miami had adopted an ordinance rezoning land to permit the development of the 26,000seat performing arts facility near the campus of Florida International University. In the section of the opinion dealing with the nuisance claim, id. at 363-5, the Third District held that dismissal under the doctrines of primary jurisdiction and exhaustion of remedies was proper because permits had yet to be obtained from the responsible agencies, including the Florida Department of Environmental Protection.

Because the case involved a new, as-yet unbuilt project, and because the permitting process had not even begun, it was obvious that the permitting process itself might solve the complaints raised by the plaintiff in that case.

As the Third District explained, dismissal was appropriate in BAL HARBOUR also because what the plaintiff sought was akin to an effort to enjoin "a threatened, <u>rather than existing</u>, nuisance." <u>Id</u>. at 364. Thus, the court held that under the rule explained in NATIONAL CONTAINER CORP. v. STATE EX REL. STOCTON, 138 Fla. 32, 189 So. 4, 10 (1939), a nuisance suit cannot be filed simply to enjoin something which <u>may</u> result in a nuisance in the future, but must be directed against something which <u>will necessarily result</u> in the creation of a nuisance. Here, the pivotal facts differs from BAL HARBOUR, because the issue here is not a future nuisance, but a present and persisting one.

Moreover, although the BAL HARBOUR case also involved a nuisance action, as in the SCM case, there was no discussion of the applicability of §403.191(1), and no indication that the argument regarding the savings clause was even made. Furthermore, BAL HARBOUR involved the application of a local ordinance, North Miami City Ordinance 888, which provided: "No development shall occur pursuant to this ordinance prior to approval by the State D.E.R. [formerly the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, now the Florida

8

Department of Environmental Protection]...." <u>Id</u>. at 678. Consequently, as the court pointed out, pursuant to the ordinance the environmental permits at issue had to be obtained from the DER as a condition to allowing the project to proceed, a factor involving the doctrines of primary jurisdiction and exhaustion of remedies not present in the instant case. <u>Id</u>. Thus, Respondents maintain that the factual and procedural posture of the nuisance issue in BAL HARBOUR is totally distinguishable from the facts and procedural posture portrayed in the Fourth District's opinion, and cannot serve as the basis for conflict jurisdiction.

### **CONCLUSION**

Respondents respectfully maintain that decisional conflict has not been established by Petitioners, and that this Court's discretionary review should be denied.